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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

COREY McFADDEN,
Plaintiff,
V. Civil Action No. 12-940 (RBW)

WASHINGTON METROPOLITAN

)
)
)
)
)
)
))
AREA TRANSIT AUTHORITY, etal, )

Defendants.

N—

)

MEMORANDUM OPINION

The plaintiff, Corey McFadden, proceeding @® brings this action against his former
employer, the Washington Metropolitan Area Transit Authority (“WMATA”), anddhre
WMATA employees, Lisa Cooper Lucas, Ron A. Kelley, and John Coleman (the “individual
defendants”), asserting claims for disability discrimination, retaliatiomncigtion, and civil
conspiracy.SeePlaintiff's First Amended Complaint (“Am. Compl.”) 11 175-243. Currently
before the Courarethe Defendants’ Motion for Sumary Judgment (“Defs.” Mot.”)the
Plaintiff's Opposition to Defendants’ Motion for Summary Judgment and Cradgivifor
Summary dd[g]ment (“Pl.’'s Opp’n and Mdat); the Plaintiff's Motion to Strike the defendants’
memorandum in support of their motion for summary judgmentanifiotion for Sanctions
(“Pl’s. 1stMot.); andthe Plaintiff's Motion to Strike certain transcripts from the record lisd
Motion for Sanctions (“Pl.’'s2nd Mot.). Upon careful consideration of the parties’ submissions,

the Court concludes for the following reasons thapthmtiff’s motions to strikenust be
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denied; thalefendants’ motiofior summary judgmemnmhust begranted in part and denied in
part;and the plaintiff' scrossmotion for summary judgment must be denied.
. BACKGROUND
Much of the factual background of this case has beemom®y set forth by the Court,

seeOrderat 2(Jan. 16, 2015), ECF No. 68eealsoMcFadden v. Wash. Metro Area Transit

Auth., 949 F. Supp. 2d 214, 218-19, 225 (D.D.C. 2013), and the amended complaint contains the
following allegations pertinent to the defendants’ motion. WMATA hired the plaagié bus
mechanic in October 2008. Am. Compl. T 11. In June 2009, the plaintiff was diagnosed with
Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder (“ADHD”) and prescribed the drug Addl€to

increase his focus and concentratiotd” {1 16-17. Pursuant to a WMATA policy forbidding
employes in “safetysensitive positions” from using amphetamines, the defendants prohibited
the plaintiff from working as a bus mechanic while taking Adderall, and suspended his
employment after he tested positive for use of the d8egid. 11 3340, 6590. Subsequently,

at a grievance hearing before WMATA'’s Joint Labor Eg&ment Committee in March 2011,

the individual defendants made statements, prior to the plaintiff's arrival atahiadye

indicating that the plaintiff was a drug addict who was abusithdefall. Seeid. 11 7274.

WMATA later fired the plaintiff for violating th@wuthority’s substance abuse policy, but then

L In addition to those filings already identifiedet@ourt considered the following filings in rendherits decision:

(1) the Defendants’ Memorandum of Points and Authorities ip&uof their Motion for Summary Judgment
(“Defs.” Mem.”); (2) thePlaintiff's Reply in Opposition to Defendants’ Meraoidum of Points and Authority and
Memorandum in Support of [Plaintiff's] Cro$gotion for Summary Judgment (“Pl.’s Opp’'n”); (3) the Defendants
Reply to Plaintiff's Opposition to Defendants’ Motion farrBmary Judgment and Opposition to Plaintiff’'s Cross
Motion for Summary Judgment (“Defs.’ Reply”); (4etibefendants’ Opposition to the Plaintiff's [Firsption to
Strike and For Sanctions (“Defs.’” 18pp’'n”); (5) the Plaintiff's Reply to Defendants’ OpposititmPlaintiff's

[First] Motion to Strike and for Sanctions (“Def&eply to Pl.’s 1st Mot.”); and (6) the Defendar@gposition to
Plaintiff's [Second] Motion to Strike and for Saiwets (“Defs’ 2nd Opp’n”).
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reinstated his employment pursuant to an agreement with the AmalgamatatiUmaors Lol
689, of which the plaintiff waa membe Id. 11 75, 77, 16.

On June 8, 2012, the plaintiff instituted this action, asserting multiple clainmstgh
defendants under the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, 29 U.S.C. § 701 (2012), and the Americans
with Disabilities Act of 1990 (“ADA”), 42 U.S.C. 8 12102(2)(B) (2012), as well as a dé¢fama
claim against the individual defendan®eeOrder at 2Jan. 16, 2015), ECF No. 60. The Court
earlierdismissed the ADA claims against WMATA on the basis of sovereign immunity afforded
WMATA under the Eleventh Amendment, and the ADA andRékabilitation Act claims
against the individual defendants on the basis that there is no individual liability ithder e
statute._McFadder®49 F. Supp. 2d at 219-20, 225. Accordingly, only the plaintiff's
Rehabilitation Act claims againdVMATA and the defamation claim against the individual
defendants remained aliv&eeid. at 225.

Following the issuance of the Courtismissal rulingthe plaintiff sought leave to file an
amended complaint to add an additional defendant, Dr. Desmond Johnson (“Dr. Johnson”), and
claimsof both intentional infliction of emotional distress and civil conspiracy basdaeon t
underlying tort of intentional infliction of emotional distress against the indidifendants
and proposed defendant Dr. Johns8eeOrderat 5 (Apr. 11, 2014), ECF No. 38. The Court
denied the plaintiff's motion in its entirety, finding that “allowing the plditdiave to amendhis
complaint . . . would be futiléid. at 6, because the plaintiff relied wholly on “allegations of

intrasworkplace conduct,” id see alsd&Kassem v. Wash. Hosp. Ctr., 513 F.3d 251, 256 (D.C.

Cir. 2008) (holding that the plaintiff stated facts sufintieo withstand the dismissal of his

intentional infliction of emotional distress claim because he “does notynpdead intra



workplace mistreatment” but also pleads facts that suggest that his employens hatie
“subjected him to criminal penalti§s which are insufficient to sustain a claim of intentional
infliction of emotional distress, and because the plaintiff ¢hdase conspiracy claim on the tort of
intentional infliction of emotional distress, the conspiracy claim f@ded as a matterfdaw due
to the legal requirement thatviableunderlying tortious adbe a condition precedent to the
sustainability ofa civil conspiracy claimSeeOrder at JJan. 16, 2015), ECF No. 60

Notwithstanding the Court'seasoning in its April 11, 2014 Ordéhe plaintiff again
moved to file an amended complaint to once again add Dr. Johnson as analdieféndant
and to include anceassert claims of (1) negligent infliction of emotional distress against Dr.
Johnson; (2) intentional infliction of emonal distress again&ir. Johnson and the other
individual defendants; and (3) a civil conspiracy claim based on the torts of tiefama
negligent infliction of emotional distress, and intentional infliction of emotion#ledis. See
Order at 4(Jan. 16, 2015), ECF No. 60. In partially denying and granting the plaintiff's second
motion to amend, the Court concluded that allowing the plaintiff to amend the compladitt t
Dr. Johnson as an individual defendant would cause “[t]he legal landscape afttbn. . .[to]
expand and become more complex, resulting in both undue delay and prejudice to the
defendants” and “would essentially create a case within a case”-atattréhe litigation from
the beginning._ldat7-8. The Court also precludéuk plaintiff from asserting claim of
negligent infliction of emotioal distress against either Dr. Johnson because the plaintiff had
“knowledge of the allegations that purportedly support his claim against Dr. Jolonswafly
two years, and [did not] argu[e] that only through discovery did the facts coigattthht

support the claifiid. at 7, or the individual defendants because the plaintiff's allegations “only



theoretically implicate potential criminal repercussions from the defendatitsisbased on
conduct bhat has never actually occurredi” at 9.

The Court further denied the plaintifscond motion to amend the complaint to include
a civil conspiracy claim based on the torts of negligent infliction of emotiost@eds and
intentionalinfliction of emotional distressas the Court previously dismissed those claims,
prohibiting the survival of the civil conspiracy claims predicated on these tdrtat 10. The
Court, however, “in light of the record currently before the Court, did. grant the plaintiff's
motion to amend the complaint to include a civil conspiracy claim based on the tort of
defamation because “the defendants will experience little prejudice, i&afthe civil
conspiracy] claim only spreads liability among the alleged wrongdoers for the underlying tort
and will not necessarily require additional discovery that has not already kenrbtathe
parties,’id. at 10-11.

The defendants have now moved for summary judgment on all counts, whicairttiéf pl
simultaneously opposes aathssmoves for summary judgment.

II. STANDARD S OF REVIEW
A. Motions to Strike

Motions to strike are “drastic remed][ies] that courts disfawigdick v. Holland 134 F.

Supp. 3d 281, 285 (D.D.C. 201&j)tation omitted) and the trial judgbasdiscretion toeither
grant or deny the motionesid. A court, either on its own volition or by a moving party, may
strike from a pleadirfgany “insufficient defense or any redundant, immaterial, impertinent or

scandalous mattér Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(f). Rule 12(fself does not require the striking of

2 A “pleading” includes a complaint, an answer, an answer to a colaiter an answer to a creskim, a third
party complaint, and a thirplarty answer. Fed. R. Civ. P. 7(a).
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prejudicial mattersand althougltourtsdisfavor motions to strikecourts have granted such
motions, but only upon a showing that parts of a pleadingrajedicial or scandaus.
Therefore, “absent a ‘strong reason for so doing,” courts will generally ‘not tantper w

pleadings.” Nwachukwu v. Rooney, 362 F. Supp. 2d 183, 190 (D.D.C. 2005) (quoting Lipsky

v. Commonwealth United Corp., 551 F.2d 887, 893 (2d Cir. 1976)).

B. Motions for Summary Judgment

Courts will grant a motion for summary judgment “if the movant shows that there is no
genuine dispute as to any material fact and the movant is entitled to judgmenratses ain
law.” Fed. R. CivP. 56(a). “A fact is matal if it ‘might affect the outcome of the suit under
the governing law,” and a dispute about a material fact is genuine ‘if the evidesushithat a

reasonable jury could return a verdict for the nonmoving parteele v. Schafeb35 F.3d

689, 692 (D.C. Cir. 2008) (quoting Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S. 242, 248 (1986)).

In considering a motion for summary judgment, “[t}he evidence of the non-movant is to
be believed, and all justifiable inferences are to be drawn in his fagodérson, 477 U.S. at
255 (citation omitted). “Credibility determinations, the weighing of the evieleaied the
drawing of legitimate inferences from the facts are jury functions, not those of a judgging
on a motion for summary judgment .. ..” Id. The movant has the burden of demonstrating the
absence of a genuine issue of material fact and that thmowing party “failed] to make a
showing sufficient to establish the existence of an element essential to thiat qeséy and on

which that party will bear the burden of proof at trial.” Celotex Corp. v. Catrett, 477 U.S. 317,

322 (1986).



In responding to the summary judgment motion, the non-moving party “must do more
than simply show that there is some metaphysical doubt as to the material facts.Shitatsu

Elec. Indus. Co. v. Zenith Radio Corp., 475 U.S. 574, 586 (1(@88)g cases) Accordingly,

the non-moving party must not rely on “mere allegations or denials . . . but must set forth
specific facts showing that there [are] genuineafguor trial.” Anderson, 477 U.S. at 248 (one

ellipsis omitted) (quoting First Nat’'l Bank of Ariz. v. Cities Serv. (391 U.S. 253, 288

(1968)). “The mere existence of a scintilla of evidence in support of the [non-movingJparty’s
position [is] insufficient” to withstand a motion for summary judgmastthere must be [some]
evidence on which the jury could reasonably find for the [non-movant].” Id. at 252. Finally,
courtsmustafford apro seplaintiff liberal construction of his summary judgment submissions,
affording him “the benefit of the doubt,” and “may ignore some technical shortcomings of their

filings.” Sindram v. Kelly No. 06ev-1952 (RBW), 2008 WL 3523161, at *3 (D.D.C. Aug. 13,

2008) (Walton, J.) (quoting Voinche v. FBI, 412 F. Supp. 2d 60, 70 (D.D.C. 28@6)also

Richardson v. United States, 193 F.3d 545, 548 (D.C. Cir. 1999).

[ll. LEGAL ANALYSIS
A. The Plaintiff's Motions to Strike
The plaintiff requests that this Court strikem the recordhe defendants’ Memorandum
in Support of their Motion foBummary Judgmein its entirety because the memorandum is not
signed as required by the rules of this Co@#ePl.’s 1st Mot. at 1. However, because motions
to strikecan be directednly at pleadingsseeFed. R. Civ. P. 7 (distinguishing pleadings from

motions and other papersge alsdBalcoh v. Norton, 517 F. Supp. 2d 345, 348 n.2 (D.D.C.

2007) (explaining that “a motion to strike .is limited to pleadingsModaressi vVedadi, 441




F. Supp. 2d 51, 54 n.2 (D.D.C. 2006) (holding that “the plain language of Rule 12(f)” requires
the court to deny the plaintiff's motion to strike the defendant’s motion to dismisslchukwy
362 F. Supp. 2d at 190 (“Because the defendants’ reply memorandum is not a pleading, as
defined in Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 7(a), and motions to strike only apphatbngs,

the plaintiff’s motion to strike is improperly directed at the defendants’ repgn,because the
plaintiff requestghatthe Court strike the defendants’ memorandum in support of its motion for
summary judgment, which is not a pleading, the Court declines to grant the péaintiffon to
strike the defendants’ memorandum.

Additionally, the plaintiff requests that this Court sanction Mr. Stief as the Cibigero
who filed the unsigned memorandum. PlssNlot. at 1-2. In opposition, the defendants, albeit
admitting to theproofreading” oversight, respond that signing the “signature block” on the
motion “serves the same purpose floee memorandurh. SeeDefs.’ 1stOpp’n at 2. Although
the Court does not condotexhnical erras committed by attorneys, the defendaptsition is
correct because a “written instrument that is an exhibit to a [motion] is a part[ofdtien] for
all purposes.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 10(c). Therefore, the Court denies the plaintiffennimti
sanctions.

The plaintiffalsoseeks to strike fim the record the plaintiff's deposition transcript and
errata sheets (“Deposition Materialsihich the defendants filed as an exhitith their Reply
to Plaintiff’'s Opposition to Defendants’ Motion for Summary Judgment and Opposition to
Plaintiff's Cross-Motion for Summary Judgment because they were filed “in violation of Rule 30
of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure to prolong this civil action in amptt® have botfof

his] civil actions combined.” Pl.’s 2nd Mot. at 1. More specifically, in his Notice of Gibjes;



which was part of the plaintiff's first motion to strike, the plaintiff “objected ®ititlusion of
fabricated, altered and dmalized altered transcripts [,] includ[ing] altered and ufinalized
transcripts ofhis] deposition.” Pl.’s 1st Mot. at 1. The defendants respond that they filed a
complete copy of the deposition materials with their reply to dispedléetiff's allegation of
misuse by the defendants when they filed abbreviated portions of the depositioalshaidri
their motion for summary judgment. Defs.” 2nd Opp’n at 2.

Rule 30 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure outlines the protocols for depolsitions
oral examinationseeFed. R. Civ. P. 30, but does not address whether an entire copy or an
abbeviated portion of a depositidranscript must bancluded when the transcrifg filed. See
id. 30(f). In any eventbecause the plaintiff's deposition materials are relevant to the Court’s
summary judgment rulinggare not prejudicial to the plaintifand were filed on behalf of the
defendants in good faith, the Court, in its discretion, deheslaintiff's motion to strike the
deposition materials from the recorBeeNwachukwy 362 F. Supp. 2d at 190 (holding that a
motion to strike is for “redundant, immaterial, impertinent or scandalousrthéitel. R. Civ. P.
12(f), and should not be used as “a vehicle to penalize parties and prevent thewgourt fr
considering a party’s motion.”)Accordingly, therebeingno underlying violatiorof Rule 30,
the Court also denies the plaintiff’s second motion for sanctions.

B. The Plaintiff's Rehabilitation Act Claims Against WMATA

WMATA moves for summary judgment on the plaintiff's disability discriminatind a
retaliation claims under the Rabilitation Act on the grounds that they ,aaeleast in substantial
part, timebarred and that they fail on the meri&eeDefs.” Mem. at 516. The Court will

address each argument in turn.



1. Timeliness
“Because the Rehabilitation Act does not specify its own limitations period, courts
generally ‘borrow one from an analogaiate cause of action, provided that théedimitations

period is not inconsistent with underlying federal policies.” Alexander \shMsletro Area

Transit Auth,  F.3d. __, 2016 WL 3467416, at *5 (D.C. Cir. June 24, 2016) (quoting

Spiegler v. District of Columbja866 F.2d 461, 463-64 (D.C. Cir. 1989)). In general, “when a

federal court borrows a limitations period from state law, that law’s tolling progisiome

along as part of the package . . . [because] ‘the chronological length of the limitatimasip

interrelated with provisions regarding tolling.”_Id. (quoting Johnson v. Ry. Express Agency,
Inc., 421 U.S. 454, 464 (1975). Accordingly, federal courts “should not unravel state limitations
rules unless their full application would defeat the goals of the federal staisgaeat Harden
v. Straub, 490 U.S. 536, 539 (1989).

WMATA argues that the applicable steof limitations is the ongear limitations
period of the Districbf Columbia Human Rights Actge Defs.” Mem at 56 (citing Jaiyeola v.

District of Columbia 40 A.3d 356, 362-68 (D.C. 2012) (Human Rights Act’s “gaar statute

of limitations governg 504 claims in this jurisdictidf). Although recognizing the
disagreemeritty members of this Court as to whether an employee’s pursuit of administrative
remedies toll the statute of limitationWMATA asserts that the plaintiff's filing of a charge of
discrimination with theEqual Employment Opportunity CommissiofEEOC’) “does not toll

the running of the statute of limitatis in Rehabilitation Act casesld. at 7 (citingJohnson, 421

U.S. at 46).
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However, the District of Columbia Cirtuecently held in Alexander that under the
Human Rights Act, “[t]he timely filing of a complaint with the [District of Columbifi€2 of
Human Rights], or under thaministrativeprocedures established by the Mayor...shall toll the
running of the statute of limitations while the complaint is pending.” Alexander,  t+.3d a
2016 WL 3467416, at *Eciting D.C. CoDbE ANN § 2-1403.16(a)) More importantly, the EEOC
and the Office of Humanights maintain avork-sharing agreement, which provides that “the
timely filing of a complaint with the EEOC” triggers this tolling provisidd. (quotingJaiyeola
40 A.3d at 369).

In Alexanderthe plaintiff filed a complaint alleging disability discriminatiander the
Rehabilitation Act based upon WMATA's refusal to rehire the plaintiffraftenpleting an
intensive alcohol dependency treatment program. Id. at \MMATA, as inthis caseargued
that the plaintiff's Rehabilitation Act claim was time barred because the coinpks filed
more than a year afténe adverse rehiring decisions and that the Supreme Court’s decision in
Johnsorforeclosed the plaintiff's reliance on the tollingpision. Id.at *5 (citing 424 U.S. at
461, where the Court concluded that lingtations period for the plaintiff's § 1981 claimas
not tolled by theplaintiff's pursuit ofhis Title VII claim before the EEOC). In distinguishing

Johnson, the Alexander coueiasonedhat the claim the plaintiff exhaustédough the

administrative procesa Alexanderwas“closely akin to [the plaintiff's] Rehabilitation Act
claim” and that District law mandates tolling 1d. at*6. (“[T] he relevant state statute of

limitation in Johnson did not have any tolling provision, and so the Court deferred to the State’s

judgment ‘in setting a limit, and exceptions thereto, on the prosecution of a closely analogous

claim.” (quoting_ Johnson, 421 U.S. at 464)). And,Altexander court further explained that

11



the Human Rights Act does not “limit tolling to mandatory exhaustlmut,is generally
applicable to “any time period ‘while [an administrative] complaint is pendingl.”
Consequently, the court held that the plafisttomplaint was timely filed.

In thiscase the plaintiff's Rehabilitatio\ct claims are not timéarred having been
filed within the one year limitations period provided by the District of Columbia HungimdR
Act. The allegationshatthe plaintiff asserts commenced or about June 10, 2010, andézk
relief based omll of these allegations, the plaintiff was requjradsent any intervening events,
to file his complainby June 10, 2011, pursuant to the one year limitations peroxded by
the Human Rights Act. However, because the plaifig atimely Charge of Discrimination
with the EEOCon January 21, 201%eeDefs.” Mem, ECF No. 787, Exhibit (“Ex.”)
Attachmentl (Charge of Discriminatiod)thelimitations periodwas tolled, as mandated by the
Human Rights Actandthe running of the limitationperiod did not resume uniflarch 17,

2012, the day after teEOC issued the plaintiff a right-sue notice, leaving éhplaintiff with
approximately Smonths to timely fié his complaint by August 10, 201Riavingfiled this

action on June 8, 2012, th&intiff timely filed the action within the limitations period.
Accordingly, the Court declines to grant the defendants’ motion for summary judgméet on t
plaintiff's Rehabilitation Act claims against WMAT#An the grounds that tletaimsare, in
substantial part, timbarred

2. The Merits of the Plaintiff's Rehabilitation Act Claims

Alternatively, WMATA argues that even if timelyhe plaintiff's disablity discrimination

and retaliation claims pursuant to the Rehabilitation Aitton the merits.The Rehabilitation

3 In referencing the parties’ exhibits, the Court witle he assigned electronic court filing (“ECF”) page numbers
for pincites.
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Act expressly prohibits discrimination against an “otherwise qualifiediohai with a disability
.. . solely by reason of his disability.” 29 U.S.C. § 794(a) (2014). And, it also prohibits
retaliation “against any individual because such individual has opposed any act oe pnactec
unlawful by this chapter or because such individual made a charge, testifigedassis
participaed in any manner in an investigation, proceeding, or hearing under this chapter.” 42
U.S.C. § 12203(a)The Court will address the merits of each clairturn.
a. Disability Discrimination Claim

The plaintiff alleges disability discrimination agaiNgMATA pursuant to the
Rehabilitation Act based on hitaimthat WMATA failed to provide him with a reasonable
accommodaon for his disability SeeAm. Compl. 1 175-192. iBcrimination claims undehe
Rehabilitation Actaregoverned byhe legal starakds foremployment discrimination claims
brought under th&DA. 29 U.S.C. § 794(a). Und#re ADA, dscriminationincludes “not
making reasonable accommodations to the known physical or mental limitations of ansatherw
qualified individual with a didaility who is an employee, unless [the employer] can demonstrate
that the accommodation would impose an undue hardship on the [employer’s] opergtsjn of
business.” 42 U.S.C. § 12112(b)(5)(A) (2008e als®9 C.F.R. § 1614.203(c)(1) (2016).

In this Circuit failure toprovide reasonable accommodat@aimsare notsubject to the

rigorous analysis mandated by the McDonnell-Douglass burden-shifting framewqreeld.

alsoAka v. Wash. Hosp. Ctr., 156 F.3d 1284, 1288 (D.C. Cir. 1998¢ then consider [the

plaintiff's] reasonable accommodation claiwhich is not subject to analysis under the

13



McDonnell-Douglas, but has its own specialized legal standafd&3ther, ® survive summary

judgment, a plaintiff must establish a prima facisecaf discrimination under the Rehabilitation
Act for failure to provide reasonable accommodations by producing

evidence from which a reasonable fntler could find that (1) he had a qualifying
disability within the meaning of the statute, (2) his employer had notice of his
disability, (3) with reasonable accommodation, he could perform the essential
function of the position, and (4) he requested an accommodation but the employer
denied his request.

Doak v. Johnson, 19 F. Supp. 3d 259, 273 (D.D.C 2014).

WMATA does not dispute that the plaintiff is an individual with a disability antitha
had notice of his disabilitySee generallipefs.” Mem. at 916. Thus, WMATA does not contest
that the plaintiff has established the first two elementssgyfrima facie case for his failure to
accommodate claimWhatWMATA takes issue with are third and fourth elements of the
plaintiff's prima facie case, arguing that the plaintiff was not a qualifiediohaal with a
disability who with or wittout accommodations could perform the essential functions of his job,
seeid. at 910, and that it'made a good faith and successful effort to accommodate the
plaintiff's disability,” id. at 10.

To establish the third elemeoit his prima facie case, the pi&iff must demonstrate that
he is a qualified individual, which under the Rehabilitation Act, is “an individul avi
disability who, with or without reasonable accommodation, can perform the ekkartiens

of the employment position that such individual holds or desires.” 42 U.S.C. § 12KEH8);

41n its Memorandum of Support for its motion for summary judgmé&mMIATA incorrectly applies the three part,
burdenshifting framework established BcDonnellDouglasgo the plaintif's disability discrimination claim for
failure to provide a reasonable accommodation. Because the Di§t@iotumbia Circuit has made clear that it is
not appropriate to apply this framework to a failure to accomreadaim, the Court will not consid&VMATA's
extensive discussion of this framework in its attempt to denaiestrhythe plaintiff’'s Rehabilitation Act disability
discrimination claim fails on the merits.
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also29 C.F.R. 8§ 1614.203(a)(6). Thus, if the individual with a disability can perform the
essential functions of his position with reasonable accommodatiens deemed to be

“‘qualified.” SeeGraffiusv. Shinseki, 672 F. Supp. 2d 119, 126 (D.D.C. 2009) (citing Carr v.

Renqg 23 F.3d 525 (D.C. Cir. 1994)yAn accommodation is ‘reasonable’ if it allows the
employee to fulfill all essential functions dig] job without imposing an undue hardship on
[his] employer.” Id. (citing 29 C.F.R. 8§ 1614.203(c)(1)). The employee bears the burden of
identifying a reasonable accommodation, and the employer likewise bears the lhymademg
undue hardship. Idln this casethe plaintiff sought to use Adderall, an amphetamine prescribed
by his physician, to manage the symptoms associatedigithental impairment and “increase
his focus and concentration.” Am. Compl. 1 WMATA deniedtheplaintiff's requestbased
on purportedederalregulations and safety related consideratidas{f 3437, 71-73.

For several reasonhere isagenuine dispute of material fact as to whetheplaintiff,
with the use of Adderall asraasonable accommodation, could performetsgentiafunctions
of his positionas a bus mechanior WMATA. First, WMATA assertghat, pursuant to federal
regulations, the plaintiff is not qualified for the position of bus mechanic beocabhse “use of
Adderall” and his failure to provide WMATAhe requisite certification that the doctor who
prescribed him Adderall was familiar with his assigned duties.” Dietisth. at 15.WMATA
bus mechaniare tasked, among other responsibilities, with repaisenyicing, and operating
transit authority’sbuses’. Seeid. at 12. To perform these essahfunctions, a bus mechanic

must have a commercial driver’s licensee Am. Compl. I 13, to operate commercial motor

5 Federal regulations address the repairing and maintenancenofezoial moto vehiclessee49 C.F.R. § 396, but
these regulations do not address the physicalfoadidonsor physicalrestrictions that covendividuals who
service orepair such vehicles.
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vehicles, such 8a8/MATA’s buses.And, federal regulations provide safety guidelittesst
govern the physical qualifications of individuals seeking to operate commercial moicese
49 C.F.R. 8 391.11(a) (2015). Under these regulations, such individuals are prohibited from
using certain controlled substancesch as the Schedulediilug Adderallunless a licensed
medical practitioner, who is familiar with the individual’s medical history, piessithe use and
properly advises the individual that the use will not adversely affectdhadnal’s ability to
operate a commercial motor vehiclel. 8 391.41(b)(12). If the licensed medical practitioner
finds the individual physically qualified, he must complete a certification and proviojgya@
the individual. _Id. 8 391.43(g)(2MWMATA adheres to these federal regulations aasl ot
implemented an internal policy that further adds to the federal regulations by pngtibe use
of a controlled substance like Adderall by its employeesafdy-sensitive positions such ass
mechanis. SeeDefs.” Mem, ECF No. 78-6, Ex. AMemorandum entitled “Cory McFadden-
Amended Resp. dated March 30, 2011) (“March 30, 2011 Mem.”) afTtuzs, the plaintiff is
gualified for the position dbus mechaniwhile usingAdderall if his licensed medical physician
prescribes the use and compédtee requisite certification.

But, WMATA, relying on the affidavit of defendant Coopareas,claimsthat the
plaintiff neve provided theaequisite certification from his prescribing physician for his use of
Adderall while on duty as a bus mechanic. And contratligplaintiff's assertion that federal
law does not require such certificatiageePl.’s Opp’n at 9theplaintiff's prescribing physician
mustprovide such a certification to “the employing motor carrier who requests it.” 48.GF
391.43(g)(20i). The recordhoweverdoes not reflect that WMAT Actuallymade aequesfor

the certification; ather, the recorch®wsthat on June 10, 2010, WMATA asked thaintiff to
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“have your physician evaluate your medical regimen [becausgfasmanercial driver license]
holder you're not permitted under DOT regulations to use Adderall” and to “prithedesults
to WMATA'’s Medical Office.” Pl.’s Opp’n, ECF No. 84-15, Ex. 48VMATA Medical
Services & Compliance Branch Fitness for Duty Examimafiorm dated June 10, 2010)he
plaintiff was provided “a referral form to take to his physician with much of time sa
instruction” and was “held off from work until [WMATA’s Medical Office] ia response from
his physician.” Seeid., ECF No. 84-34, Ex. 85 (Memorandum dated August 23, 2010 re
Grievance Case 010430) (“August 23 Mem.”). This plausibly sugtiest8VMATA wasonly
instructing the plaintifihot to use Adderall anfdr the plaintiff toask his physician for an
alternative medicatianThe plaintiff seemingly complied with what he thought he was told to
do, as he shisequently supplied WMATA with an alternative prescripti@eeid., ECF No. 84-
34, Ex. 85 (August 23, 201Mem.) (noting that when WMATA'’s Medical Office saw the
plaintiff six days later, the plaintiff “stated that his primary care physician had disaedtthe
Adderal [sic] and started him on Strattera” and the plaintiff was “cleared {tohr regular

duties”);seealsoid., ECF No. 84-42x. 102 (Prescription Reporting Form dated June 18,

2010). WMATA's requestamotdefinitively be construed aan instruction fothe plaintiff to
provideWMATA with a copy of the requisite certification completed by his physicidicating
that he is familiar with the plaintiff’'s medical history and has properly advisedhaitusing
Adderall will not adversely affect his ability to operate a commercial motacleetBut, even if
the record supported this interpretatid¥iVIATA expresslystates that[tlhere is no dispute that
WMATA initially allowed [the p]laintiff to continue to work as a bus mechanic based on his

treating doctor’s certification regarding the use of Addérdbefs.” Mem.at 10. Because
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WMATA did not have a policy prohibiting the use of Adderallitsyemployees in safety
sensitive positionsuch as bus mechaniasdfederal regulations do not prohilite use of
Adderallby individuals operating a commercial motor vehicle provided that the presggribi
physician provids the requisite certificationvhich WMATA affirms they receivedVMATA'’s
argumentthat the plaintificannot perform the essential functions of the bus mechanic position
because hesinot qualified for the position due to his use of Adderall anthitige to provide
therequisite certification from his prescribing physician tihat plaintiffwas advisedhat such
use will not adversely affect his ability to operate a commercial motor velaekenot entitle
WMATA to summary judgment.

WMATA next argues that théplaintiff had significant safetyelated issues regardless of
whether or not he was on Adderally! at 12, therefore showing thiie plaintiff could not
perform the essential functions of the bus mechanic position even with the requested
accommodation. Considering the factsha light mosfavorable to theplaintiff asthe non-
moving party, the recorconsists othe following egarding the plaintiff'snvolvement insafety
related incidents anlis use of Adderall. In the spring of 20QBe plaintiff committedtwo
safetyrelated ifiractions;in both instances, he moved the bus he was servicing without first
detachinghe fuelnozzle. After the secormtcurrencethe plaintiff sought medical advice, and
in June of 2009, he was diagnosed with ADHEeeAm. Compl. 1 16.The plaintiff first tried
therapeutic treatment to manage the associated symptbpad when deemed inefttive, the
plaintiff then began using medically prescribed Adderall, id.  17haneportedts use to
WMATA, s2ePl.’s Opp’n,ECF No. 821, Ex. 2 (Prescription Reporting Form dated June 26,

2009). Thereafterthe plaintiff reportedfeeling“jittery” to a ceworker. SeeAm. Compl. § 24;
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see alsd”l.’s Opp’n, ECF No. 82, Ex. 1 (June 9, 2010 Email from Cotapeas) On June 9,
2010, theplaintiff was instructed to report to WMATA’s medical department for tesgagid.,
ECF No. 83-8, Ex. 1QWMATA N otice Form dated June 9, 2010), which hetbalfollowing
day. Seeid., ECF No. 839, Ex. 20(WMATA Medical Office Return to Duty Notice dated June
10, 2010). Whileat the medical departmenheplaintiff was informedoy Dr. Johnson, a
WMATA medical review officer, thathe could not take Adderdlecause offiis job position
based on federal laand that h@eeded tahange prescriptiorisefore he wold be allowed to
return to work Seeid. The paintiff then began takin§tratteraa non-stimulant medication
designed to treat ADHD, and was able return to work on or about June 16 3., ECF
No. 83-10, Ex. 21 (WMATA Medical Office Return to Duty Notice dated June 16, 2010).
Subsequently, the plaintiff was involved in two additional on-the-job acciddetast occunng

on or about September 6, 2018eeDefs.” Mem. at 2see alsd”l.’s Opp’n at 13. Bothccidents

wereattributedby the plaintiff to being prohibited from usidgiderall. Seeid., ECF No. 84-16,
Ex. 51 (Accident Appeal Form dated September 18, 2010) (“Accident Appeal”).

Based orthe plaintiff's further investigation dederal law and WMATA'’s policy on the
use of prohibited controlled substancesbyployees in safetgensitive positiond)e filed an
accident appeakgardingthe second accident and began taking Adderall agzaeid., ECF
No. 84-16, Ex. 51Accident Appeal) On January 18, 2011, th&intiff was instructed to report
to WMATA'’s medical departmenseeid., ECF No. 82-3, Ex. Email from Jessie &@him to
Mr. Coleman dated January 18, 2011) (“January 18, 2011 Email”), which heedimlltdwing
day. Theplaintiff wasagaininstructed tacease using Adderall and not to return to work until he

started taking anoth@rescriptiondrug Seeid., ECFNo. 82-7, Ex. §WMATA Medical Office
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Return to Duty Notice dated January 19, 20EGFNo. 82-9, Ex. 10 (Email from Mary C.

Fleming to Copper-Lucas dated January 31, 2011) (“January 31, 2011 Eah&il"The paintiff
reluctantlyobliged and provided WIATA’s medical department with a prescriptitam
Strattera.Seeid., ECF No. 82-6, Ex. {Prescription Form from Dr. Peter Blaes dated January

19, 2011). On Friday, January 21, 2011, the plaintiff had a conversation with defendant Cooper-
Lucas andhe agreed not to take Adderall aftlee upcoming Sunday afternoo8eePl.’s

Opp’n, ECF No. 82-4, Ex. BVMATA Medical Office Return to Duty Noticdated January 21,

2011) (*January 21, 2011 Return to Duty Notice”); ECF No. 82-5, Ex. 6 (Email from Cooper-

Lucas to John Coleman dated January 21, 203ahuary 21 Email3)see als®efs.” Mem,

ECF No. 78-6, Ex. B (Joint Labor Management Committee Meeting Transcript dateld Ma
2011) (*Committee Transcript’gt 38. The plaintiff was thenallowed to réurn to duty on
January 24, 20110n the next day, January 25, 2011, gleintiff sustained another on-the-job
injury.

Based orthis recordthe plaintiff has producedufficientevidencefrom whicha
reasonable fadinder could conclude that he could perform the essential functions of the
position of bus mechanic with the use of Addeaall reasonable accommodation. The record
indicates thathe plaintiff was not involved in any safety-related incidents while activehgusi
Adderall. In fact, theacord suggests the oppositthat withthe use oAdderall, theplaintiff
performed his duties devoid of any safetyated incidentsbutthat withoutthe use of Adderall,

the plaintiff was accident prone due to his symptoms caused byDitD. The only inciderft

6 The defendants argue that the plaintiff was provideshaonable accommodation when he plased in a Station

Manager’s position, a nesafey sensitive position, after a\pril 5, 2012 incident in whicfithe p]laintiff left his

busrunning in an alley for a few hours and he told the supenhisahie ‘fagot’ about it.” Defs.” Mem. at 13.This
(continued . . .)
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that might suggest otherwise is the plaintiff'stbe-job injurywhich, as the medical review
officer noted, a genuine questierists as tavhether the plaintiff continued taking Adderatter
being instructed not to do so, or whetherprior use ofAdderall was still traceable in the
plaintiff's urine when the injury occurredSeePl.’s Opp’n, ECF No. 84-19, Ex. J8VMATA
Medical Review Officer Verification Worksheet dated January 31, 2011) (“daB80a2011
Verification Worksheet”) Also, John Coleman, a supervisotthe plaintiff's chain of
commandg conducted an investigation “into the allegation made by [the plaintiff] that he was
discriminate against on the basis of his disability and that his termination was a retaliatory act
basedon being denied an accommodation request for his disability” and did not find “any
reference to a safety violation|itme plaintiff's] personnel folder.”_Id., ECF No. 84-36, Ex. 90
(Memorandum re Amended Notification of EEOC Charge dated June 28,&011Moreover,
WMATA has not produced any research or medical ex@eadence whichindicateshat the use
of Adderallby employees in safetgensitive positions compromises safe@ther than the
evidence concerning tisafetyrelated incidentVMATA also hadailed to provideany other
evidence of thelaintiff’s inability to perform the essentialiictions of a bus mechanic.
Accordingly, the Court cannot grasimmaryjudgment orthe plaintiff's disability
discrimination claim for either the plaifftor the defendants.
b. Retaliation Claim
The plaintiff alleges WMATA retaliated against him in violation of the Rehabilitatio

Act for asserting his rights under the Rehabilitation Act and for filing a clerdiscrimination

(... continued)
incident and the facts surrounding it are in dispute in anoterlmaught by the plaintiff, and therefore, are not
within the Court’s province, at this timi, consider in resolving the issues in the present case.
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with the EEOC.SeeAm. Compl. 11 193-200. On the other hawtMATA assersthat the
plaintiff's retaliation claim under the Rehabilitation Act fails on the méetsause ihad
“legitimate, nondiscriminatory reasons” for ismploymentrelated actionsvhich “the plaintiff
cannot demonstrate . were pretextual” Defs.” Mem. at 16.

“Where, as herea plaintiff offers only circumstantial evidence of retaliation, [his] claim

is governed by théurden-shifting framewor&f McDonnell-Douglass.” Solomon Vilsack

763 F.3d 1, 14 (D.C. Cir. 2014) (Rehabilitation Act casé)is framework requires th@aintiff
to first establisha prima faciecase of retaliation by showing that “(1) he engaged in a statutorily
protected activity; (2) [he] suffered a mategadidverse action by [his] employer; and (3) a

causal connection existed between the twdiley v. Glassman511 F.3d 151, 15@.C. Cir.

2007). If the plaintiff satisfies this burderfthe burderof production shifts to the employer to
producea ‘legitimate, nondiscriminatory reasofor its action” Solomon, 763 F.3d at 14
(quotingWiley, 511 F.3d at 155). If the employer provides such a reason, the plaintiff must then
counter with “sufficient evidend® ‘create a genuine dispute on the ultimate issue of retaliation
either directly by [showing] that a discriminatory reason more likely motivateentipdoyer or
indirectly by showing that the employer’s proffered explanation is unworthy of credeide.’

(quotingPardeKronemann v. Donovan, 601 F.3d 599, 604 (D.C. Cir. 2010)).

Once the employer ooes “forwardwith a legitimate non+etaliatory justification for
[their] actions] the burden shifting framewotbecomesrrelevantand the court need not
determine whether the plaintiff establistegorima facie case of retaliationd. Ratherthe court

should proceed to the question of retaliattehnon as that fuestion is the ultimate factual

issue in the cask Id. (citations and quotations omittedhiere, WMATA argues that safety
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relatedconsiderations for its employees and passengers welegitimate, nordiscriminatory
reasongor its employmentelated actions it took in regardstte phintiff. Defs.” Mem. at 9.

Viewing the record in the lightnost favorable to the plaintiff as the non-moving party,
the followingare thefacts pertinent to the plaintiff'slaim of pretext. On September 18, 2010,
the plaintiff filed an accident appeabncerning amccidenthatoccurredon September 6, 2010,
for which he contends he should not have been held responsiblectide he “was
unjustifiably forced to stop taking Adderall.” Pl.’s Opp’n, ECF No. 84-16, ExAStiflent
Appeal). On his appeatorm, the plaintiff explained thdte was told “it was against the
Department of Transportation guideligeto have anycommercial driver licensdjolder use a
schedule 2 medication,” but after further investigation, he learned that “néighEepartment
of Transportationpr WMATA have a written policy that prevents the use of a schedule 2
narcotic as long as the use is in adherence to a prescribed treatment issued by a licensed
practitioner. Id. And he contends that hiase falls [within] this category.ld. The appeal
form was signed and dated by the plaintiff's supervisor. 1d. On January 18, 2011, thle appe
board conducted a hearing and, in denyiregappealdetermined that “the majority of the panel
agreed that the accident was rated propedg.’ ECF No. 84-18, Ex. 5@Accident Appeal Form
Panel Decision dated Janud®, 2011)“Accident Appeal Decision”)

After the accident appeal heariogncluded, but on the same dabe plaintiff was
instructed to report to WMATA'’s medical departmiexeid., ECF No. 823, Ex. 4 (January 18,
2011 Email) because he “setfisclosed to management on January fiBat] he was using a
prohibited medicatiofi id., ECF No. 82-9, Ex. 10 (January 31, 2011 Emaibe plaintiff

reported tdhe medical departmeoh January 19, 2011, aad noted earliehe was instructed
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to not useAdderall and wasformed that he would not eermitted towvork until he changed
prescriptions.Seeid., ECF No. 82-7, Ex. 8 (WMATA Medical Office Return to Duty Notice
dated January 19, 2011); ECF No. 82-9, Ex. 10 (January 31, 2011 Entelpext day, the
plaintiff provided WMATA's medicaldepartment with a prescription for Strattei@eeid., ECF
No. 82-6, Ex. 7 (Prescription Form from Dr. Peter Blaes dated January 19, P&ldpoke with
defendant Cooper-Lucas on January 21, 28&éDefs.” Mem, ECF No. 786, Ex. B
(Committee Transcriptt 38, and “[r]eportedthat] he would stop taking Adderall before 2pm
[on] January 23, 2011.” Pl.’s Opp’n, ECF No. 82-8, ERVMATA Employee Assistance
Program Substance Abuse Professional’'s Assessmentfaiadary 4, 2011()‘Assessment
Intake”). Defendant Cooper-Lucas told fhlaintiff that “if you are off that medication for 48
hours, you should be cleanDefs.” Mem, ECF No. 78-6, Ex. BGommittee Transcripat 38.
The paintiff agreedhot to further take Adderall after the designated tiamel was given a return
to duty notice on January 21, 2011, allowing him to return to work on January 24,364 1.
Pl.’s Opp’n, ECF No. 82-4, Ex. 5 (January 21, 2011 Return to Duty Notice); ECF No. 82-5, Ex.
6 (January 21 Emailsee als®efs.” Mem, ECF No. 78-6, Ex. BGommittee Transcriptat 38.
However, the plaintiff also filed a Charge of Discrimination with the EEOCaanaky 21, 2011,
alleging disability discriminationSeeDefs.” Mem, ECF No. 78-7, Ex. Aichmentl (Charge of
Discriminatior).

On January 25, 2011, the plaintiff “experienced an on-duty injury while workirfig] on
bus” and the “results of the Post Incident Medical Examination” conductedHataright twere
positive for amphetamisg,which purportedly] . . . place[d the plaintiff] in violation of the

Authority’s Policy on Substance Abuse.” Pl.’s Opp’n, ECF No. 83-13, ERAMATA
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Investigation Report dated February 3, 2011). But, althougplaingiff's urinalysis tested
positive for amphetamines, his urinalysis was ruled negative by a medical review, siigidr,
ECF No. 83, Ex. 1{Designated Employer Representative/Designee Niegative Worksheet
dated January 1, 2011); ECF No. 84-19, Ex. 56 (January 31, 2011 Verification Worksheet),
becauseheplaintiff had a legitimate medicakplanation, seid., ECF No. 833, Ex. 14
(Medical Review Officers and the Verification Proceddpnethelesst was determined thahe
plaintiff violated WMATA'’s prescription reporting poli¢cyeeid., ECF No. 824, Ex. 15
(Memorandum re Administrative Action dated February 3, 2011) (“February 3, 2011 Mem.”)
which provides that “[f]ailure toeport prescription medication . . ., the presence of which may
be detected by a urinalysis test , shall constitute a positive test resuitl.,, ECF No. 84-7, Ex.
36 WMATA Policy/Instruction) Also, WMATA'’s Substance Abuse policy statefy]hder
appropriate circumstances, in casesneltire employee was disciplined for. any drug
presence fowhich the employee had a legitimate, but unreported prescription, the Medical
Director may establish a minimufgmployee Assistance Progrhduration of 30 days.” Id.,
ECF No. 84-4. Ex. 3BWMATA Substance Abuse Policy and Employee Assistance Program)
Consequently he plaintiff was “(1) immediately released from pay status(2) given ten days
to enroll in thgEmployee Asistancd’rogramias a Category Il pariigant [and] (3) upon
enrollment . . remain in release from pay status for the minimum 30 days, [and told thé4)
failure to enroll [or] satisfactorily complete the EAP participation requiremeifiteesult in
[his] discharge.”_Id., ECF No. 83-4, Ex. 15 (February 3, 2011 Mem.).

On February 24, 2011, while submitting to sunagitietesting theplaintiff informedhis

Employee Asistancd’rogram counselor about a “new prescription for Addéradl., ECF No.
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84-22, Ex. 61 (Individual Contact Record dated February 24, 2011) (“Individual Contact
Record”) The partieshowever, dispute whether the plaintiff asked if he could take the
prescription while he was not working due to the suspensgagenerallyDefs.” Mem.,ECF
No. 78-6, Ex. B Committee Transcriptor if he indicated that he intended to take Addesat!
Pl.’s Opp’'n, ECF No. 84-22, Ex. 61 (Individual Contact Record). In any event, on February 28,
2011, the plaintiff received a notice that “it was determined that [he has] beenmphacd
with his Employee Assistancérogramcontract and was “referred the Joint Labor
Management Committd€'‘Committee”)] for case review.”ld., ECF No. 84-21, Ex. 6QLetter
from Cooper-Lucas dated February 28, 2011). Based on the information provéded at
subsequenttearing, th&Committeereferred the plaintiffor administrative action and voted to
terminate the plaintiff's employmenteeDefs’ Mem., ECF No. 78-6, Ex. BGommittee
Transcrip} at 72.

Based on this recoythe plaintiff has produceslfficientevidencerom whicha
reasonable juror could conclude that WMATA's proffer of safetated considerationgere
pretextial and that WMATA was likely motivated more by retaliation against the gfaifirst,
the appeal board’s decision form provided commentary that gives the Court somfopause
several reasons: (1) the board was compo#ttee individuals, onbeing Mr. Coleman, who
wasone of the supervisors in the plaintiff's chain of commandvamalhad been the subject of
grievances filed byhe plaintiff, seePl.’s Opp’n, ECF No. 84-50, Ex. 11%{atement for
Grievance Filingat 1; (2) the plaintiff “appealed [with] no explanation,” even though he filed a
detailed explanation signed by his immediate superwdueren he asserted that he was

unjustifiably forced to stop taking Adderall given his understandingéddatal law permits the
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use of Adderall pursuant to treatment prescribed by a licensed practitionehisa\d/MATA
did not have a policy prohibiting the use of Adderatid (3)even though the plaifitwas
present during the hearing, the union’s shop steward signed the fahm plaintiff's behalf
suggestinghat the plaintiff was naffordedan opportunity to review or even contest the
information provided on the decision form. Id., ECF No. 84-18, ExAB8ident Appeal
Decision. Also, even though the plaintiff submitted multiple prescription reporting forms to
WMATA for his use of Adderalafter filing his accident appeaeeid., ECF No. 84-46, Ex. 106
(Prescription Reporting Form dated October 9, 2010); ECF No. 84-47, EPdeRgription
Reporting Form dated November 10, 2010); ECF No. 84-48, EXPr&%cription Reporting
Form dated December 10, 2010), it was not umtthediatelyafter the appediearing when
WMATA learnedthatthe plaintiff resumed taking Adderathat he plaintiff wasinstructedto
report to the medical department wherenasagaindirected to cease taking Adderall and
change prescriptions if ldesiredto return to work.After agreeing not to further take Adderall
and to switch back to Strattethe plaintiff returned to work and had an on-the-job injury. The
postincident test resultwere positive for amphetamines (Adderall) but welled negative by
the medical reviewffice becauséhe plaintiff had a prescriptiorfor its use Nonetheless, the
plaintiff was cited for violating WMATA's prescription reporting polityr failure to report his
prescription for Adderall and was immediately reprimanded. The Court firedsahis for
disciplining the plaintifitoncerning, givethatthe record indicategnd as the Court noted
above the plaintiff submitted prescription reporting forms for his use of Adderall to WMA[T
October 9, 201Gseeid., ECF No. 84-46, Ex. 10@rescription Reporting Fomon November

10, 2010seeid., ECF No. 84-47, Ex. 110 (Prescription Reporting FormPecember 0,
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2010,seeid., ECF No. 8448, Ex. 111 (Prescription Reporting Form), and on January 11, 2011,
seeid., ECF No. 83-11, Ex.2(Prescripbn Reporting Form).

Furthermorethe plaintiff was terminated because he waportedlynoncompliant with
the terms of hiEmployee Asistanc&’rogramcontract due this allegedrepresentationuring a
surveillance testing that he was g@ito resume taking Adderall. As previousbted the
parties disputehis fact, but even so, the Employessfstancd’rogram contract does not
indicate that it is a violation to inquiebout or suggeshe intended usef a prescribed
medication; the contract only provides that the participant is redioéaform the[Employee
Assistancd’rogram] Office and treatment program (before testing) of all drugs being take
including those prescribed by a licensed physician . . . [and] to abstain from alcohgadr ille
drugs durindhis] [Employee Assistancérogram]participation” 1d., ECF No. 84-24, Ex. 65
(WMATA Employee Assistance Program Participation Requiremenisyertheless, the
plaintiff was referred to thé@ointLabor Management Committéar non-compliance.

The Court also finds theanscript from the Committeetsearingproblematicin multiple
respects Primarily, he Gmmittee was chaired lgefendant Coopdrucas, whahad a tenuous
working relationship with the plaintifeegenerallyDefs.” Mem., ECF No. 78-6, Ex. B
(Committee Transcriptat 38-39, and who pridio the plaintiff entering the roommade it clear
to the Committee that the use of Adderall was prohibited by federal regulsteiss,at 43, that
theplaintiff hadneversubmitted ay prescription reporting forms for his use of Adderall in
accordance with WMATA's policyid. at 43-44, andhat the plaintiff's “behavior suggests that
he’s addicted to [Adderg]t id. at 39. The transcriptlso contains numerous factual

inaccuracies and discrepangigsseid. at 44 (identifying Adderallaatype of Benzodiazepines),
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see alsad. at 38 (misstating the timing of when certain safety incidents occurred in retation
plaintiff's use of Adderall)thatmay have clouded the judgment of then@nittee members and
contributed tahe @mmittee concluishg that administrative action, arsgpecificallytermination,
was warrantedseeid. at 70. The transcript also®wsthat the plaintifivas constantly
interrupted and never given adequat@pportunity to defend himself or present evidence to
supporthis arguments and actionSeeid. at 4556, 70.

Moreover, WMATA has notredibly identifiedany safetyrelated incidento supportits
proffer of safetyrelated considerations as their legitimate,-d@triminatory reasons for the
actions it took.As discussed abovéye only incident it relies upon ke plaintiff’'s on-the-job
injury that occurred two days after the plaintifformed WMATA that he would cease taking
Adderall. But, a the medical review officeroted, there is a genuine questatowhether the
plaintiff continued taking Adderall or whether the Adderall was still traceable indah#if's
urine from prior usageSeePl.’s Opp’'n, ECF No. 84-19, Ex. 56 (January 31, 2011 Verification
Worksheet). Consequently light of theconsiderable evidengaoduced by the plaintiff, the
Court finds that a reasonable fdictder could onclude that the defendant’s proffersaffety
related considerations for its employmeelated actiong took against the plaintifivas
pretextial and that the defend&actions weranore likely motivated by retaliationHowever,
the plaintiff's claim for summary judgmergalsoprecludedecause thre existsa genuine
guestionas to whether the plaintiffgse of Adderalfaisediegitimate safety concerns
Accordingly, the Court declines to grant thkintiff or thedefendants summary judgment on the

plaintiff's retaliation claim.
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C. The Plaintiff’'s Defamation Claim againstthe Individual Defendants

The individual defendants request summary judgment on the plaintiff’'s common law
defamation claim on the grounds titas time-barred; that they are immune from the claim
pursuant to ta WMATA Compact; and that it fails on the meriS8eeDefs.” Mem.at 16-23;
Defs.’ Reply at 3. The Court will address each argument in turn.

1. Timeliness

Under District of Columbia law, “[a] claim for defamation must be filed within yeer

of accrual of the cause of actionMaupin v. Haylock, 931 A.2d 1039, 1041-42 (D.C. 2007);

D.C.CoDES 12-301(4) (2012). Akin to the parties’ submissiahthe motion to dismiss stage,
theyacknowledge that this is the applicable limitatigreriod for the platiff's defamation
claim, but continue to dispute when the claim accrued. The individual defendantshasdbet t
claim accrued in March 2011 when the plaintiff became aware of the alleged defamatory
statements the individual defendants made at the Cibeenfiearing, and that the claim is
thereforetime-barredbecausehe plaintiff filedthis casanore than a year later in June 2012.
Defs.” Mem. at22. The plaintiff responds that he did not learn of the alleged defamatory
statements “prior to being given thiedmmitteehearing] transcripts” on or about July 5, 2011,
and that this should be the accrual date for his defamation claim, thus makitagnhisnoely.
Pl.’s Opp’n at 38.

“As a general rule, ‘[w]here the fact of an injury can be readily deterhia claim
accrues for purposes of the statute of limitations at the time the injury actoaliss.” Mullin

v. Wash. Free Weekly, Inc., 785 A.2d 296, 298 (D.C. 2001) (citation omitted). Consistent with

this rule, a defamation claim typically accruénd the one-year limitations period beg[ins] to
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run, at the time the allegedly defamatory statement [is] publishdéuipin 931 A.2d at 1042.

“But when ‘the relationship between the fact of injury and the alleged tortious dqisjluc
obscure,” the strict of ColumbiaCourt of Appeals has appliedhat is known as the

“discovery rule,” which provides that “the statute of limitations will not run utdiinpiffs know

or reasonably should have known that they suffered injury due to the defendants’ wrongdoing.”
Mullin, 785 A.2dat 298-99 (citation omitted). And, as the Court previously outlined, the
discovery rule may be applied to defamation claims other than those of the mass mtecta co
SeeMcFadden949 F. Supp. 2d &21-22 (discussing a federal court’'s mandate to resolve an
issue of undecided state law accogdia the rule it believes the “state’s highest court is likely to
adopt in the not too distant future” and holding that tistridt of ColumbiaCourt of Appeals

would apply the discovery rule based on the facts of this case) (citationsdpmititeder tle
discovery rule, the plaintiff need “not know the precise content of [the allegachalifry]
statemen{s solong as] he had sufficient knowledge that an allegedly defamatory statement was
made, of its publication . . . and of some injury resulting floenstatements.’Stith v.

Chadbourne & Parke, LLP, 160 F. Supp. 2d 1, 7 (D.D.C. 2001) (citing Wallace v. Skadden,

Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flon715 A.2d 873, 882-83 (D.C. 1998) (“National Railroad

Passenger Corporation v. Krouse, 627 A.2d 489, 497-98 (D.C. 1993), we held that once the

plaintiff has been placed on notice of an injury and of the role of the defendants’ wrongf
conduct in causing it, the policy disfavoring stale claims makes application alishe\ery
rule] inappropriate.”)).

Here,granting the individual defendants summary judgment on the grounds that the

statute of limitations bars the plaintiff's defamation clamprecluded because there is at least a
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genuine disputef material factis towhenthe plaintiff knew or should have known that the
individual defendants’ alleged defamatory statements caused his purported ifjary. T
individual defendants argue that tthefamation claim is timéarred based on the followingi)

in the plaintiff's March 18, 2011 email to Local 689 oific]. Madarasthe plaintiff's union
representative, heomplainedabout Mr. Madaras’ actions and representapimvided during

the Committeehearingandalso“referred to [defendant] Coopéxicas’ ‘[c]laim that [he] never
turned in prescription [sic]aspite filing a grievance and an accident appeal” and stated “l don’t
[believe] fighting for my rights displays addictiorséeDefs.” Mem.at 22 (citations omitted);

(2) theplaintiff's allegation that he was “attacked in {l@®@mmitteehearing] for being
addicted[,]”id.(citing the Am. Compl. { 62); and (8)e plaintiff's subsequent meety with Mr.
Madaraswhen Mr. Madaras told the plaintiff that “his action[s] were predicated on information
that he was given prior {the] Plaintiff entering the roori id. at 23 citing (Am. Compl. § 131).
According to the individual defendants, these statements stadvthe plaintiff was aware and
knew of the nature of the alleged defamatory statenfientsore than a year before he filed his
complaint. Id. at 22-23.

For the following reasonshe Court is not persuaded from these facts that the plaintiff
was put on notice of an injury and of the role of the individual defendants’ purported wrongful
conduct in causing itFirst, the plaintiff's satements in his March 18, 2011 email to Mr.
Madaras and his allegation of being attacked for beiragdict during the Committdeearing
wereconceivably dect responseto Mr. Madaras’ question during tB@mmitteehearing
wheran he asked the plaintiff “don’t you think you are addicted to [Adderal§@€Defs.’

Mem.,, ECF No. 78-6, Ex. BGommittee Transcriptat 65-66.In light of thisline of questioning
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from the Committee, it is plausible that the plaintiff did not have knowledge= ondlividual
defendants’ allegedly defamatory statemer@scond, defendant Coodaneas statement tdahe
plaintiff during the Committeedaringthat, “if you've got proof that you've submitted any
prescription reporting forms, please produce that[,]” id. at 60, plausilglgestednly thatit
was her belief thahe plaintiff ha not submitted any prescription reporting forrksnally, Mr.
Madaras’ statement during his subsequent meeting with the plaintiff does not shggest t
alerted the plaintiff as to ¢hnature of the allegedly defamatory statements, but merely explains
the basis for his actions taken during the meeting. None of these facts indictite fhaintiff
had sufficient knowledge of the allegedly defamatory statements until he recemey af the
Committeehearing transcripts on or about July 5, 2011. Accordingly, the Court declines to grant
the defendants’ motion for summary judgment on the grounds that the plaintiff's defama
claimwas untimelyfiled.

2. Immunity under the WMATA Compact

The individual defendants next argue that they are immune from the plaintiff’
defamation claim pursuant to the interstate compact creating WMATA. Defs.! e
“Section 80 of the Compact waives [WMATA'’s sovereign] immunity for torts ‘cotted in the
conduct of any proprietary function,” while retaining immunity for torts committed bygédata

‘in the performance of a governmental functionBéebe v. Vdsh. Metro. Area Transit Auth.

129 F.3d 1283, 1287 (D.C. Cir. 1997) (quotihg. CoDE ANN. § 1-2431(80) (2010)). Section
80 of the WMATA Compact also “provides that the ‘exclusive remedy’ for anyrafdronhich
WMATA is liable ‘shall be by suit against the Authority’”; thus, “for torts coitted in the

course of proprietary or ministerialnctions, WMATA is liable and its employees immune.” Id.
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at 1288 (quoting D.C. Code § 1-2431(80)). Further refining this rule, the District of Columbia
Circuit in Beebeheld that WMATA employees “enjoy absolute immunity from state tort
actions wherhe conduct at issue falls ‘within the scope of their official duties andbtiabuct is

discretionary in nature.”1d. at 1289 (quotin@Vestfall v. Erwin 484 U.S. 292, 297-98 (1988)).

“[T]he buren of estabfihing immunity s] on the official.” Id.(citing Westfall| 484 U.S. at
299).

The plaintiff contends that the individual defendamatsted beyond the outer limits of
their official duties when they made certain defamatory staterabotghim before hesntered

the room for th&Committeehearing. PI's Opp’n at 282; see alsAm. Compl. 11 201-02 (e.g.,

alleged statements thdPRlaintiff abused Adderall; his actions suggested that he was addicted to
Adderall; Plaintiff was aggressive and violent in his EAP hearing; Plafatiéfid a compny

drug test; Plaintiff never reported his prescription for Adderall to WMATA atiang’}. The
plaintiff also argueshat theindividual defendantsleterminations were not discretionary but
“were malicious and salacious attacks’ him. PI's Opp’n at 31. The individual defendants
respond thatécause of “WMATA's safety interests in monitoring employees,[tike

p]laintiff, who were in a safety sensitive position,” it was not amilhin their official duties “to
make determinations regarding whetha employee’s use of a medication was in accordance
with WMATA and/or DOT requiremengsbut thatthey also “had the right—indeed the dutie—

communicate with each other regarding an employesesof prescription medicatidnDefs.’

" The plaintiff does not allege any specific defamatory statenneatie by defendant John Coleman; he alleges only
that Mr. Coleman “made, repeated, and wrote disparaging stateafenit [him] when he terminated [him].” Am.
Compl. 1 203. Without specificallyleadingwhat Mr. Coleman allegedly said, the Court is unable to assess
whether defendant Coleman’s statemevdse made within the scope of his official duties and the levaisofetion

he used when making those statemefitserefore, because the plaintiff does not spedificdentify the statements
made by defendant Coleman that were allegedly defamatfignahnt Coleman is entitled to summary judgment.
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Mem. at21. Moreoer, they contend th#lheir determinations “were discretionary in nature
[because theyieflectedtheir professional assement of [the pdintiff's situation; id., while
attemptingto “comply with federal standards and WMATA practice.” Defs.” Reply.at 9

To support their position, the individual defendants rely on the court’s discussion in
Beebe where the counipheld the dismissal of the plaintiff's defamation cldnased on its
finding that the plaintiff's contention that the challenged statementsmeatieated by personal
animus, vas “conclusory andbecause the plaintiff “failed to allegeh@this supervisorfcted
outside thescope of [his] official duties.’Beebe 129 F.3d at 1289. Moreover, the court found
that the plaintiff'ssupervisor’s actions were discretionary “as they involved a large measure of
choice.” Id. However, the court noted that

not all intentional or malicious torts committed in the ndrooairse of employment

necessarily fall within the scope of official duties. Officials exceed ther oute

perimeters of their responsibilities, and act manifestly beyond their lingyoffdu
examplewhen they resort to physical force to compel the oleaieof their
managerial subordinates . or when they use false threats of criminal charges to
coerce an employee into resigning.

Id. (citations omitted).

The individual defendantso asserthat theFourth Circuit’'s decision in Martin v.
Wood, 772 F.3d 192 (4th Cir. 201€gpports their position. DefReply at 10. In that case, the
plaintiff allegedthather employer failed to compensate here for overtime hoursctked
because her supervisors, who were the only defendants in the case, refused e auitiori
compensationSeeMartin, 772 F.3d at 196. Since the plaintiff did not allege that her
supervisors “acted in artra viresmanner or attempted to servergonal interests distinct from
the [employer’s] interests,” tHeourth Circuitreversed the district court’s rulirdenying the

supervisorsdismissalmotion based on sovereign immunity becawseually every factor
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indicates that [the supervisors webeing sued in their official capabilities” and the supervisors’
actions were “inextricably tiédo their official duties.” 1d.
The Court is not persuaded that the reasonihgirtin is applicable to this casdn

Martin, the plaintiffs complaintincluded onlyallegations that her supervisors “acted directly
and indirectly in the interest of [the employer],” but without any allegations ofsaper
animus, the court fountthatthe Commonwealth of Virginiwasthe“real party in interest” that
the plaintiff was seeking to hold accountab&eeid. (“In these circumstances, we hold that
Virginia is the real party in interest, and that sovereign immunifsounded in the Eleventh
Amendment—requires dismissal of the suit.” (citations omitdedjlere the plaintff alleges that
the individual defendants acteda malicious oultra viresmanner outsidéheir official
capacitiesvhen they allegedly made defamatory statements againstNhametheless, the Court
finds theCircuit's holdingin Beebeapplicableandsimilarly concludes thathe individual
defendants are entitled to sovereign immunity becausentadg the allegdyl defamatory
statementsvhile acting within the scope of their official duties dmetauseheir determinations
about the plaintiff's actions and his use of Adderall were discretionary irenatur

Defendant Coopeltucas when the allegedly defamatory statements were maaithe
Manager of the Medical Services and Compliance Braauoth in that capacity, was responsible
for ersuring that WMATA and its employe@gerein “compliance with Federal law” antb
achieve this endmanagéd], direcfed], and evaluafd] [WMATA'’s] medical services branch
and administers all [WMATA] medical, employee assistance and compliance operatio
programs.” Pl.’s Opp’n, ECF No. 84, Ex. @FMATA Job Description for Manager of Medical

Services) Becausehe bint Labor Management Conitteeis an integrapart of WMATA'’s
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employee assistan@ad compliance programs, defendant Codperas, as the Manager, wdul
be expected tparticipate in the Committgerocess.In addition, defendant Ron Kelly is an
Employee Assistanc€ounselomwhowas tasled with “providing clinical services including
assessment, referral, [and] case management . . . for all employees referr¢driptbgee
Assistance Program,]” as well ggepar[ing][a] chronology of events as needed for the
[Committee]on employees o request a review of their case before[@jemmittee.” 1d.,
ECF No. 84-8, Ex. 38WMATA Job Description for Employee Assistance Counselor)
Defendant Kelly was the plaintiff's assignedhployee Asistancérogramcounselor and
worked directly with tle plaintiff throughouthe plaintiff's participationin the program Seeid.,
ECF No. 82-8Assessment IntakeUndoubtedlypbecause of his role as the assigietployee
Assistancé’rogram counselodefendant Kellywould have first-hand knowledge of the
plaintiff's actions durindnis participation in the employee assistance proghanwould be
critical to the Committee’actfinding and evaluation dhe plaintiff's compliance with the
program. Seeid. Also, defendant Coopérucas was closely inveed in WMATA'’s medical
department’s assessment of the plaintiff's use of AddeedDefs.” Mem,ECF No. 786, Ex. A
(March 30, 2011 Mem.), and woulldereforehave criticalbackground information about the
plaintiff prior to his enroliment in thEmployeeAssistancd’rogram that wouldid in the
Committees decisionmaking process. Thus, participation by both defendants Caopeas
and Kelly at the @mmitteehearing was within their official duties defendant Coopémcas
was required to coordinatke Gmmittee procesand defendarKelly, as the counselor who
assessed the plaintiff, was required to provideCivamittee with the essential fa@bout the

plaintiff's performance in the Employeesgistancd’rogram.
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Furthermore, when making tladlegedy defamatory statementdhe individual
defendants’ were exercising discretiotegral toWMATA'’s obligation of ensuring thats
employees in safetgensitive positions comply with federal regulations governing the use of
prohibited controlled substaesfor the benefit of not onlits passengefsut also its employees
Although the individual defendants were not entirely accurate ostakenf the law when they
made their statementheyonly provided the&Conmittee with determinations basexh their
training, education, prior experiences, and assessment of the plaintiffsaii@dtory. In fact,
the individual defendants were careful to include langtiagggualified their professional
assessmentvhich undermines thglaintiff's position thatheir opinions were made with malice
SeeDefs.” Mem.,ECF No. 78-6, Ex. BGommittee Transcriptat 39 the plaintiff's “behavior
suggests that figis] addicted tdAdderall] . . .if [he] takgs] excessive amounts of it, which |
don’t know that he has, but his physical presentation oftentimes gives the appearaterg of ji
shaking, he’s very aggressive in his stance and demepn8afety being a fundamental
obligationa mass transit authoritke WMATA owes to both its customers and employees,
employees impositions similar tahose of the individual defendantsrdandcandid commeairy
onan employee’s use of prescribed madtimn, particularly when a question arises concerning
whether use ahe medication endangers safety.

Because the individual defendants were acting within the scope of their oftited d
when their statements were mael their determinations were discretionary in naturd, the
statements about the plaintiff are progetbysovereign immunity. Accordingly, the Court

grans thedefendants’ motion for summary judgmenttod plaintiff’'s defamation clairfrodged
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against the individual defendants, rendering it unnecessary to attaressrits of the plaintiff's
defamatiorclaim.
D. The Plaintiff’'s Civil Conspiracy Claim

The defendants next argue that the Circuit’s holdingader v. Democratic National

Comnittee, 567 F.3d 692, 697 (D.C. Cir. 2009) requires the granting of summary judgment on
the plaintiff's civil conspiracyclaim. Defs.” Mem. at 23. The defendants are correct, and
accordingly the plaintiff's civil conspiracy claim must be dismissed.

As the Courearlierexplainedjn the District of Columbi&j[ c]ivil conspiracyis not a
independentort butonly a means for establishing vicarious liability for an underlying tort.”

Nader 567 F.3cat 697 (quotingHill v. Medlantic Health Car&rp., 933 A.2d 314, 334 (D.C.

2007)(internal quotation marks omittedee als®rder at 7 Apr. 14, 2011) ECFNo. 38.
Therefore, alaim of civil conspiracyfails unless the elements of the underlying tort are

satisfied. Nader, 567 F.3d at 697 (citingxec.Sandwich Shoppe, Inc. v. Carr Realty Corp., 749

A.2d 724, 738 (D.C. 2000)). “Indeed, because its only purigdsespread liability for a
successful tort claim to all agreeing parties regardless of whether they actuatijtteschthe
tortious act, a civil conspiracy claim incorporates not only every substargive s of the

underlying tort, but also its statute of limitationgd. (citing Diamond v. Davis, 680 A.2d 364,

366 n.4 (D.C. 1996))Here,sovereign immunity precludes the plaintiff's defamation claim,
which isthe underlying tortious aserving as the predicate for the plaintiff's civil spiracy

claim. SeeBanreker Ventures, LLC v. Graham, 798 F.3d 1119, 1145 (D.C. Cir. 2015)

(remanding the proceedings back to the district court to “evaluate whether the et

concludes would not be immunized, taken together, state a claim against [the individual
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defendant] for tortious interference or civil conspiracys8e als&malls v. Emanuel, 840 F.

Supp. 2d 23, 34-36 (D.D.C. 2012) (holding ttheplaintiff's civil conspiracy claim fails
because all of the underlying torts failed, inahgdthe plaintiff'sdefamatiorclaim which
sovereign immunity precludediConsequentlythe plaintiff's civil conspiracylaim cannot
surviveeither Accordingly, the Court grants defendants’ motion for summary judgment of the
plaintiff's civil conspiracy claim
V. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasorthe plaintiff's motions to strike and for sanctions are denied
The plaintiff's crossmotion for summary judgment is also denied. On the other hand, the
defendants’ motiofor summary judgmens granted in part and denied in part. Specifically, the
motion is granted insofar as the plaintifflefamation @mim againsthe individual defendants is
dismissed with prejudice anlde plaintiff's civil conspiracy claim against the individual
defendants is atsdismissed vth prejudice However,the motion is denied in all othezgpects

SO ORDERED this 2nd day oBeptember20162

REGGIE B. WALTON
United States District Judge

8 The Court will contemporaneously issue an Order consistent witiviinorandum Opinion.
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